

Measurement, Monitoring, and Verification: Enhanced Oil Recovery and Carbon Dioxide Storage

06 March 2015

Dr Fran Boait, University of Edinburgh, Researcher Dr Arash JafarGandomi, University of Edinburgh, Teaching Fellow Dr Gareth Johnson, SCCS, PDRA

Scottish Carbon Capture & Storage

Murchison House, West Mains Road Edinburgh EH9 3LA Telephone +44 (0)131 650 0270 www.sccs.org.uk The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the project sponsors

Executive Summary

This report assesses the differences between monitoring technology requirements for CO₂ storage in a saline or depleted hydrocarbon reservoir and in a hydrocarbon reservoir, when CO₂ injection is used for enhanced oil recovery (EOR).

First order factors dictating technology choice including geological and geographic parameters are assessed before addressing differences introduced by the choice of process (EOR or storage). A brief review of the most common monitoring technologies suitable for use in either CO₂ storage operations or in CO₂-EOR projects are found to not vary significantly, however the measurements and analysis do. Specific differences are highlighted, however, it is found that the largest differences in monitoring technology usage is not process related, rather it is controlled by site specific geology and geography. Where differences do exist due to process choice it is shown to be largely related to the level of characterization, baseline assessment, likely infrastructure in place and pressure management during operations.

No specific different technologies or monitoring strategies are recommended for EOR over CO₂ storage in either saline or depleted oil and gas reservoirs. Rather, it is recommended to assess the local site-specific conditions of any CO₂ injection project including the geology, geography and the level of knowledge and understanding of the reservoir and then to build a risk based approach to selecting the appropriate monitoring technologies and deployment strategies.

Contents

Executive Summary
1. Introduction
1.1 Report Objective and Structure
1.2 Enhanced Oil Recovery 7
1.3 Measurement, Monitoring and Verification9
2. First order Factors that influence MMV technology choice and deployment strategy
3. Effects of differences in CO ₂ -EOR and CO ₂ injection into saline reservoirs and depleted oil and gas fields
4. MMV technology Review
4.1 Direct Monitoring
Geochemical Monitoring17
Subsurface pressure and temperature19
Surface/Seabed measurements
Well logs 21
4.2 Indirect Monitoring
Time lapse 3D seismic imaging21
Passive seismic monitoring 23
Controlled source electromagnetic monitoring25
Gravity 27
Surface Deformation
5. Recommendations and Conclusions 30
Further Research
References

1. Introduction

Carbon capture and storage (CCS) seeks to capture carbon dioxide that would otherwise be emitted into the atmosphere and instead store it in a sub-surface geological formation.

Geological storage options for CO₂ include (Fig. 1, CO2CRC):

- 1. Depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs
- 2. Use of CO₂ in enhanced oil recovery (EOR)
- 3. Deep saline water-saturated reservoirs
- 4. Deep unmineable coal seams
- 5. Use of CO₂ in enhanced coal bed methane recovery
- 6. Other options (basalts, oil shales, cavities)





The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 2005) indicates that the global potential storage capacity is 675 Gt for depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs (Option 1) and 1000 Gt for deep saline water saturated reservoirs (Option 3). In addition, primarily due to the economic benefits of producing incremental oil, enhanced oil recovery (EOR) using CO₂ and the associated CO₂ storage (Option 2) is being considered as a form of CO₂ storage. Storage of CO₂ in options 4-6 above provides negligible capacity at a global scale and is explored no further in this report. To date most research has concerned storage in saline aquifers as they provide the larger share of the storage capacity and in general each saline storage reservoir is much larger than an oil or gas field (IPCC, 2005).

To ensure the safety of storage and verification of CO₂ stored, any CCS operation will be required to deploy measurement, monitoring and verification (MMV) programs.

1.1 Report Objective and Structure

This report explores the differences in MMV requirements for CO₂ storage into saline reservoirs and depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs and in CO₂-Enhanced Oil Recovery (CO₂-EOR) (by nature into an oil reservoir) projects where it is assumed monitoring is required to verify stored CO₂.

An introduction to both CO₂-EOR and MMV is provided in section 1 of this report.

To assess the difference in MMV technology and strategy needs between the processes the first order factors (i.e. those irrespective of process) that may influence the operation of MMV technology and deployment strategy firstly need to be considered. Section 2 of this report details this.

Once the first order factors have been assessed the differences in the three processes (saline reservoir storage vs depleted oil and gas reservoir vs CO₂-EOR) that can lead to a change in MMV technology must be assessed. Section 3 of this report details this.

Section 4 follows with a brief review of specific MMV technologies, examples of where they have been used and highlights the likely impact of process and suitability of a particular technology to the different processes.

Lastly, Section 5 provides recommendations and conclusions and highlights areas for future research.

1.2 Enhanced Oil Recovery

Enhanced oil recovery is usually undertaken as a tertiary stage of oil extraction. The primary phase is where oil naturally rises under pressure to the surface after a well is drilled, and can also include artificial lift devices, such as pump jacks. The secondary phase is typically increasing production (countering decline) by increasing the pressure in the reservoir through water injection. It is not uncommon for these two phases to leave 75% of the oil in the reservoir. The third stage is referred to as enhanced oil recovery and can be achieved by three mechanisms; miscibility, thermal, and chemical. Between these three mechanisms there are up to 20 different methods of EOR (Taber et al., 1997). The method chosen is dependent on a variety of factors, including, for example, the density of the oil in the reservoir, the availability and economics of solvents, the perceived sweep efficiency to date and the geology and physical and chemical properties of the reservoir. Thermal methods, such as steam-flooding are more successful when recovering heavier oil, whereas miscible flooding which uses CO₂ or other inert gases work well on lower density oils. Chemical flooding using polymers, gels and surfactants targets light and medium density oils (Taber et al., 1997).

Aside from CO_2 , other gases used for miscible flooding are natural gas, flue gas and nitrogen. The pressure needed to achieve dynamic miscibility with CO_2 , is lower than that required for the other gases (Shaw and Bachu, 2002). This lower pressure threshold means that there are a significantly larger number of potential EOR projects with CO_2 flooding than for other

miscible EOR methods.

When CO₂ is injected for enhanced oil recovery it acts like a solvent and mobilises residual oil to waterflood. The pressure criteria for CO₂-EOR to work are that CO₂ must be in a dense phase and it should be above the minimum miscibility pressure (MMP). The MMP encapsulates phase behaviour and flow; above it CO₂ will be miscible with oil and therefore recovery of oil will work, however below it CO₂ and oil will not be miscible and recovery will be less efficient. The MMP depends on oil composition and density, and reservoir temperature (Shaw and Bachu, 2002). The minimum reservoir pressure requirement means that the ratio between reservoir pressure and MMP should normally be greater than 1. In reality, CO2-flood EOR is still possible when this ratio is 0.95 (Shaw and Bachu, 2002).

 CO_2 will extract hydrocarbons from the oil until it attains a composition that is miscible with the oil above the MMP. If more CO_2 is present, a CO_2 rich phase with dissolved light hydrocarbons will be formed. Since it will be more mobile (less dense), it will flow faster, contact fresh oil, and dissolve to saturation levels in the oil (Brown, 2002). Figure 2 shows what the ideal behaviour of CO_2 -EOR would look like (a), under the influence of buoyant CO_2 (b), and with viscous fingering effects (c).



Figure 2: Phase behaviour and flow dynamics in miscible flooding (a) idealised CO₂-EOR fluid flow, (b) during the influence of fluid density and (c) in the setting of viscosity contrasts, which produce fingering of the CO₂ into oil (Lake et al., 1992).

A common technique used in EOR is water-alternating-gas (WAG). The idea is that by alternating between injecting water and CO_2 , the sweep efficiency (i.e. how much of the reservoir is contacted by the injected fluid) is improved. If more oil is contacted by CO_2 then more oil should be produced. However, since sweep efficiency is dependent on a number of parameters including: injection pattern, reservoir permeability and heterogeneity, reservoir thickness, position of fluid contacts, density and viscosity of fluids, then WAG does not always improve oil production any more than just injecting CO_2 .

1.3 Measurement, Monitoring and Verification

Measurement, monitoring and verification (MMV) programs are deployed both to ensure risk of CO₂ leakage is minimal and to verify the security of CO₂ storage. The latter is particularly important in CCS operations where financial credit is gained by the avoidance of emissions of CO₂ or in the form of carbon credits for storage. MMV can also be used to ensure that the injected CO₂ is migrating as predicted and if not allow the iteration of reservoir models to fit the new observations. Furthermore, MMV programs can significantly contribute to the identification and location of the front and transition zones between CO₂ and oil during CO₂-EOR operations. This information greatly helps engineers to optimize injection and production rates. For the correct interpretation of measurements, a baseline survey of the reservoir prior to CO₂ injection is typically necessary. Clearly the ideal monitoring technology would have the ability to directly measure the mass of CO₂ stored. The measurements required to calculate the mass of CO₂ stored in-situ are the spatial extent of CO₂ in the subsurface, CO₂ saturation, and CO₂ density. In the absence of directly calculating the insitu stored mass of CO₂ an MMV program aimed at identifying migration within the storage complex and leakage out with the complex can be deployed. Under the current EU CCS directive there is a requirement to quantify any leakage out with the storage complex.

The lateral spatial extent of CO_2 in the subsurface may be obtained using three-dimensional (3D) seismic imaging, gravity or electromagnetic surveys. Obtaining the vertical height of the CO_2 plume is more difficult. CO_2 will rise in a plume, the diameter of which will be determined by the permeability and porosity of the rock, and the density contrast and mobility ratio between CO_2 and the interstitial fluid. The plume will rise until it reaches an impermeable rock, where it will flow out laterally. The thickness of the current is dependent on the relative strength of the capillary forces and pore-size distribution (Golding et al., 2011). CO_2 density can be determined with accurate pressure, temperature and composition measurements. CO_2 saturation cannot be measured directly unless a monitoring well is present and fluids can be sampled or well-logs run. Saturation can be estimated indirectly from electrical resistivity and inverting geophysical attributes. The amount of CO_2 dissolved in water or oil can be determined from chemical parameters measured in produced fluids (Johnson et al, 2011).

Table 1 gives examples of monitoring technologies that have been used at different types of CO_2 storage projects. Where gaps exist and there is no field data, then the success of the technique can only be assessed by experience in a different type of storage project and by theoretical modeling.

Table 1: Examples of monitoring techniques that have been carried out at different types of CO_2 storage project. (Vp = P-wave velocity, Vs = S-wave velocity).

Monitoring	What is measured?	Onshor	Offshor	Onshor	Offshor
technique		e EOR	e EOR	e saline	e saline
		project	project	aquifer	aquifer

Geochemical Monitoring	Isotope ratios / noble gases / PFCs	Weybur n	Lula (planned)	Frio	
Subsurface Pressure and Temperature	Pressure and Temperatur e	Weybur n	Lula (planned)	Nagaok a	
Seismic Imaging	Vp, Vs, Amplitude	Weybur n		In Salah	Sleipner
Gravity	density	Cranfiel d		In Salah	Sleipner
Passive Seismic Monitoring	Natural and induced microseismi c events	Weybur n		Aquistor e (planned)	Sleipner
Electromagneti c techniques	Conductivit y, resistivity	Lost Hills EOR project, Californi a		Ketzin, In Salah	
Surface deformation	Tilt, uplift			In Salah	

2. First order Factors that influence MMV technology choice and deployment strategy

Both the MMV tools chosen and the deployment scenario of an MMV campaign for either EOR or storage will be dictated by a number of factors. The primary factors that govern these decisions are:

- Geology: the properties of the reservoir into which CO₂ will be injected
- Geography: the physical location of the project

Geological properties of individual sites whether they be for CO₂ storage or EOR govern the effective transmission of fluids and as such may impact on the ability to use specific MMV tools and the strategy in which they are deployed. Permeability and porosity of the reservoir impact greatly on both injectivity and pressure transmission in the reservoir and for example could mean that where permeability is low microseismicity will become an important tool to monitor CO₂ migration by location of source events. Similarly, low permeability giving rise to low injectivity means that injection wells in both storage and EOR will have a smaller spacing to achieve similar capacities of injection than a higher permeability reservoir. This has significant implications for the spatial coverage and deployment of direct well-based monitoring strategies. The mineralogy of the reservoir may also affect the monitoring tool choice. For example, the difference in reactivity of a carbonate to a silicate rock to CO₂ presence will significantly affect the geochemical parameters measured in sampled fluids. Similarly higher reactivity leading to greater amounts of dissolution and precipitation reactions can alter the physical properties of the rock matrix and thus impact on technologies or methods that use these parameters to resolve CO₂ saturation or plume location.

The depth of the reservoir, albeit not strictly a geological property, has a very large impact on which technologies may be used. Pressure and temperature both increase with depth and significantly impact fluid properties (e.g. density, viscosity, miscibility). Many indirect technologies (see section 4) rely on the changing fluid properties of the reservoir as CO₂ displaces native fluids. Hence some technologies have a sensitivity that is a product of depth.

The geographical location of the proposed project may arguably be the largest controlling factor on which technologies can be used. The difference between technology choice and deployment strategy between onshore and offshore projects is vast. Where onshore may result in a number of either production or monitoring wells for any one project, an offshore project may have only one or a few wells from which to monitor from. Even within these distinctions (onshore vs offshore) geography further determines technology use. For example where surface deformation may be useful in a desert setting, beneath a vegetated surface will be less effective. Conversely, looking for vegetation changes as an identifier of CO₂ leakage will be much harder in a desert than in a well vegetated area. Although CO₂-EOR has long been practiced in the oil and gas industry the only off-shore project is the Lula field, offshore Brazil, operated by Petrobras. CO₂ EOR began in 2013 (WAG) (Grava, 2014). Little information is published on the field although Grava (2014) indicates that 4D seismic monitoring has begun at the field with a baseline dataset and a first post-CO₂ injection dataset both acquired. However, offshore CO₂-EOR is where the main knowledge and experience gap exists.

None of the above parameters are unique to either storage in saline or depleted oil and gas reservoirs or EOR projects. Yet these first order factors will greatly influence both the choice of monitoring tool and the deployment strategy. In section 4 of this report technologies are assessed for their suitability against such first order factors and recommendations are given in section 5.

3. Effects of differences in CO₂-EOR and CO₂ injection into saline reservoirs and depleted oil and gas fields

Whilst the first-order factors which determine technology use can be said to be independent of the process to be applied there are a number of factors that are influenced by whether the operation will be for storage in depleted oil or saline reservoirs or whether it will be for EOR. These factors are largely due to the level of existing level of knowledge and intervention in the reservoir, namely:

- 1. The level of existing characterization and knowledge of the injection reservoir
- 2. The extent of historical infrastructure in place
- 3. The extent of anthropogenic modification of the reservoir to date and planned

Hence at this point it is necessary to distinguish the three processes and the specific impacts this will have on the MMV technologies used and strategy deployed.

Generally oil and gas reservoirs will be much better characterized than saline reservoirs due to the historical development of these sites. This existing knowledge base in conjunction with the fact that oil and gas reservoirs are known to contain buoyant fluids reduces risk and uncertainty when considering CO₂ storage relative to a saline reservoir with little historical or operational information. This in turn can lead to different decisions on monitoring technology deployment when approached from a risk-based approach. Risk and uncertainty in saline reservoirs can be countered by thorough baseline characterization at such sites. JafarGandomi and Curtis (2012) show that in the case of CCS in saline reservoirs, baseline survey and prior information about the storage formation have a significant impact on the ability to monitor the reservoir. This is typically not an issue for CO₂-EOR or storage in depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs because hydrocarbon reservoirs are well characterized and valuable information is available from history matching time-lapse measurements. However, interpreting indirect observations is significantly more complicated for CO₂-EOR and CCS in depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs than for CCS in a saline aquifer. This complexity arises because during CO₂-EOR and in depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs up to four fluid phases are present, whereas with CCS in a saline reservoir, only two fluid phases co-exist. For monitoring CO₂ storage in a saline

reservior, accurate measurements and calculations of CO₂ saturation, and the amount of CO₂ dissolved in brine are required, but with CO₂-EOR and in depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs additional measurements and calculations of oil saturation, and the amount of CO₂ in the CO₂-oil enriched phase are needed. Direct and indirect methods of monitoring CO₂-EOR are therefore likely to be required to gain an accurate understanding of carbon dioxide storage in the depleted oil reservoir.

In contrast, the consequence of the existing knowledge and historical infrastructure of oil and gas reservoirs compared with deep saline reservoirs is that they are penetrated by many wells of variable quality and integrity, which themselves may constitute leakage paths for the stored CO₂. However, the knowledge of the location of these potential leakage paths can again be considered in a risk-based approach to a monitoring program allowing monitoring tools to be deployed at these locations. In addition, the number of wells encountered in an existing oil and gas field (assuming it is not decommissioned) can be used to great effect in terms of direct monitoring in the reservoirs allowing a much greater spatial coverage of direct methods.

Although depth of reservoir and thus pressure and temperature effects are largely considered to be independent of the process, arguably in many cases EOR will be deeper due to the need to achieve MMP whereas CO₂ storage operations need only to reach dense phase. Even if this is not the case reservoir pressure will certainly be affected by the extent of anthropogenic activity to-date and by planned activities. Depleted oil and gas fields may be under-pressured due to fluid extraction, or may be at similar pressure conditions to when found due to secondary water flooding techniques. EOR projects by their nature will both inject and produce fluids thus managing pressure. Saline reservoirs are very likely to see a pressure increase (unless they are very large and unconstrained) without intervention to produce fluids from the reservoir. These factors can greatly affect the risk assessment for the storage site which will inform the MMV

campaign, especially when considering caprock integrity and induced seismicity.

A summary of 45 US CO₂-EOR projects shows that when CO₂ is injected for EOR, approximately 40% of the CO₂ is produced along with the oil (Shaw and Bachu, 2002 and references therein). This CO₂ is then separated and re-injected, recycling it into the reservoir. Over time the production of oil will reduce, and amount of CO₂ produced and recycled will increase. Recycling will result in the isotope signature of the CO₂ injected and that that is naturally present in the reservoir eventually becoming mixed and no longer distinct. The timescale on which mixing would take place will vary from site-to-site depending on many parameters including rock and fluid properties, number of production/injection wells etc. Similarly, the isotopic signature of water may be influenced by the recycling of fluids and hence some of the direct geochemical methods for assessing CO₂ presence will be impacted by the EOR process.

In general terms the above factors equally apply to EOR projects or storage in depleted oil and gas fields as being distinct from saline reservoir storage hence it is important to re-iterate that many of the effects will be site specific and that no simple distinction between EOR and storage can be drawn without consideration for the specific reservoir the CO₂ will be injected into. In the MMV technology review (Section 4) of this report the individual technologies are assessed for the impact of the process-related differences highlighted above and recommendations to suitability are given in section 5.

4. MMV technology Review

MMV techniques can generally be categorised as being direct or indirect observations. Indirect observations include geophysical subsurface and remote sensing techniques, whilst direct observations take measurements from injection, monitoring, and producing wells or from direct surface/seabed fluxes. In the following a brief overview of the common technologies used is provided.

4.1 Direct Monitoring

Geochemical Monitoring

A combination of tracers, geochemical measurements (e.g. pH, alkalinity, cation, anion, TDS) and thermodynamic calculations are the only monitoring methods to determine the amount of CO₂ dissolution in the fluid phase present. Currently, the technique does not vary between saline aquifer and depleted hydrocarbon reservoirs or CO₂-EOR but analysis is different since there are different fluids present for the CO₂ to partition into. Tracers have been used at some onshore saline aquifer CO₂ storage sites, and many CO₂-EOR storage sites, because production of fluids is part of the EOR process. Tracers have not been used in offshore saline aquifer CO₂ storage sites largely due to the expense of drilling a second/monitoring well.

Carbon or oxygen isotopes are commonly used to trace the injected CO_2 if the isotopic signature of injected CO_2 is distinct from the reservoir fluids (Nowak et al., 2013). By measuring the changing isotopic content of C and O in the produced water, the amount of CO_2 dissolution can be calculated (Johnson et al., 2011).

 CO_2 dissolution in oil can be calculated using a thermodynamic model. Perez et al. (2006) model the fluid interaction at Weyburn, and determine that the distribution of CO_2 after almost two years is 15% in the free phase, 45% dissolved in water and 40% dissolved in oil, with the water becoming saturated with CO_2 in less than a year (Figure 3). The isotopic signature of oxygen was used at an CO_2 -EOR project in the Pembina field, Alberta, Canada to determine the amount of CO_2 dissolved in water, and where the water is saturated, the free phase pore-space saturation of CO_2 (Johnson et al., 2011). The water - CO_2 interaction was modelled as a twocomponent system independent of the oil in the pore space and measurements were taken on produced fluids. Thus it is unable to provide quantification of pore-space saturation away from the wells.



Figure 3: Results from a partition model, showing CO₂ distribution in the reservoir fluids at subsurface conditions through time. This graph shows the CO₂ dissolution modeled in the reservoir from measurements taken at one representative well at Weyburn. Taken from (Perez et al., 2006).

Noble gases are also used as a tracer in CO_2 storage because they track CO_2 migration through a reservoir, by dissolving in the injected supercritical CO_2 and as the CO_2 rises up a production/monitoring well and forms a gas, the noble gas exsolves (Nimez and Hudson, 2005). Although noble gases solubilities in brine and some hydrocarbons are known from laboratory pressure-temperature experiments, little field data has been collected to understand the solubility/partitioning in the conditions of a CO_2 storage site (Nimez and Hudson, 2005).

The Dulang field, offshore Malaysia is an EOR project that injects water and gas alternatively and has conducted multiphase flow measurement using tracers (Bohari et el., 2003). The natural gas used for EOR contains almost 50% CO_2 . Gas tracers used to track the gas were Argon and Helium, (Bohari et el., 2003).

At the Frio project in Texas, where CO₂ was injected into a saline reservoir,

perfluorocarbon (PFT) conservative tracers were used to track the CO_2 migration (McCallum et al., 2005). At the Cranfield Field, Mississippi, CO_2 is injected into a depleted oil and gas reservoir. Tracers including: perfluorocarbons, noble gases, and SF_6 tracers have been used (Hovorka et al., 2011). The tracers are only used to track the CO_2 -brine components of the system qualitatively and the amount the tracers partition into oil and natural gas has not been documented.

Frequent geochemical monitoring of offshore fields is more logistically challenging and expensive due to the need for multiple wells to gain spatial coverage and frequent sampling of fluids to determine breakthrough and CO₂ saturations. However, developments are being continuously made in this field with particular relevance for offshore technology. One example are 'intelligent chemical tracers', which are smart plastic and chemical compounds combined into a matrix that resembles strips of plastic. The matrix releases a unique chemical fingerprint which is different depending on whether it is contacted by gas, water or oil. These tracers can be positioned at different points in the well to provide information on flow to different parts of the well (Williams and Nyhavn, 2012).

Subsurface pressure and temperature

Reservoir pressure and temperature measurements are vital to accurately determine the density of CO_2 (and oil) in the reservoir. Measurements will be carried out in much the same way for saline aquifer and CO_2 -EOR. The main difference is that there will be a minimum of one well for saline aquifer storage and two for CO_2 -EOR. Monitoring bottom hole pressure on either the producing or injection wells can also determine to what extent the CO_2 and oil are miscible in the reservoir i.e. to what extent the CO_2 is dissolving in the oil. Down-hole pressure and temperature sensors have improved significantly including developments in electrical and fiber optic down-hole sensors (Wright and Womack, 2006). Therefore monitoring will enable EOR performance to be optimised but also to help quantify the amount of CO_2 stored (Ren et al., 2011). Down-hole temperature and pressure

measurements can be used to constrain the inversion of seismic datasets (either from surface or well-based measurements) which leads to more accurate estimates of saturation. In addition down-hole gauges can be used to improve history matching of reservoir simulation models, which provides another tool for determining distribution of CO₂ in the reservoir

At Ketzin, 34 thousand tonnes of CO₂ was injected into a saline aquifer over 2 years. Continuous pressure and temperature measurements were recorded using is a single-point fiber optic pressure gauge with no downhole electronics. The aim of the real-time monitoring was for pressure transient analysis and reservoir characterisation (Giese et al., 2008). Distributed temperature sensing was used for almost continuous temperature profiles along the length of the well at Ketzin, measured by fiber-optic sensor cables which were installed behind the borehole casing.

Surface/Seabed measurements

Direct measurements at the surface or seabed can detect CO_2 , to infer containment (through lack of leakage detected) or detect if it is leaking to the surface. Soil-gas sampling has been carried out at onshore CO_2 storage projects in saline aquifers and oil reservoirs (e.g. In Salah and Weyburn). The technique does not vary between storage type because both projects were tracing CO_2 leakage (White and Johnson, 2009). Since the number of offshore CO_2 storage projects planned is increasing, techniques are being developed to detect leakage at the seabed or in the water column including: fluorescence to detect liquid hydrocarbons at the seabed, sampling and spectroscopic methods, gas trapping technology (SPE Presentation, H Johansen, Rio 2012; Figure 3). If leakage from CO_2 storage in a depleted oil or gas reservoir occurred, natural gas would reach the surface first because it is more buoyant.



Figure 4: Monitoring strategy for an offshore CO₂-EOR project. Taken from (SPE Presentation, H Johansen, Rio 2012).

Well logs

Although different sites may use different well-log suites, all types of well logs can be used in all types of CO_2 storage. The most useful well logs for monitoring carbon dioxide storage include: sonic, density and resistivity. Gaining accurate measurements of P-wave velocity and density is crucial in order to accurately be able to process and interpret data from seismic imaging.

4.2 Indirect Monitoring

The aim of indirect monitoring is using indirect measurements, mostly geophysical attributes, to determine the lateral extent of CO_2 and petrophysical properties like CO_2 saturation.

Time lapse 3D seismic imaging

Seismic imaging has been used to monitor carbon dioxide migration during onshore CO₂-EOR projects (e.g. Weyburn) as well as onshore and offshore saline aquifer storage projects (e.g. In Salah and Sleipner). The

seismic imaging equipment is the same for monitoring EOR and saline aquifer projects, but different for onshore and offshore projects. The main difference for seismic imaging of CO_2 injected into a hydrocarbon reservoir and a saline aquifer is the different reflection amplitudes that will result from injection of CO_2 . CO_2 -saturated rock has a much larger impedance contrast to brine-saturated rock than oil-saturated rock. Figure 5 illustrates the impedance contrasts expected from a brine- CO_2 , CO_2 -oil, and CO_2 -gas interface, based on physical properties from the reservoirs at the Sleipner and Weyburn fields. Despite the small impedance contrast, seismic imaging of the CO_2 injection into the oil reservoir at Weyburn highlighted the areas of the reservoir contacted by CO_2 (Brown, 2002). This observation is confirmed by Figure 5, which shows that the impedance contrast is bigger for oil against CO_2 (2), than for brine against oil (1).

The smallest impedance change is between CO_2 - and a gas-saturated rock (Figure 5(3)). For this reason, at the Otway project where CO_2 is injected into a depleted gas reservoir, 4D VSP (Vertical Seismic Profiles) were used for imaging reservoir changes and CO_2 migration. 4D surface seismic was also used at Otway for monitoring the overburden, and verifying CO_2 containment (Urosevic et al., 2009).

Crosswell tomography has been carried out at Nagaoka, Japan, an onshore saline aquifer storage project. It was not found to be very useful, because the velocity decrease resulting from CO_2 injection, was found to be much lower than that measured by sonic logging (Saito et al., 2006). Crosswell tomography could be useful at EOR storage projects by determining the attenuation due to the injected CO_2 . Harris et al. (1996) present laboratory, field and synthetic data to show that injection of CO_2 -alternating-water into an oil reservoir results in P-wave attenuation. Seismic waves are recorded before and after injection in a crosswell geometry from two wells in a Texas oil field.

Forward modelling of rock physics and reservoir simulations can predict the seismic impedance changes, which can then be compared to the data

collected. Rock physics models how P- and S-wave velocity changes with varying fluids, fluid saturation and pressure, whereas reservoir simulations model the fluid saturations and dynamics of flow through a reservoir. Inversion of seismic attributes for CO_2 saturation has been carried out for both CO_2 storage in a saline aquifer and for EOR projects. Inversion is typically be more complicated in a CO_2 -EOR setting due to the increase in the number of fluids present.



Figure 5: (a) Impedances for varying pore-fluids, based on Utsira Sandstone rock properties (35% porosity, 36^oC, 10 MPa) at Sleipner (Boait et al., 2012). (b) Impedances based on Midale Carbonate rock properties (Vuggy unit: 12% porosity, 60^oC, and 15 MPa) at Weyburn (Brown, 2002). (c) Cross-sectional sketch to show different layers used in the impedance plots. 60% oil and 70% natural gas is ideal saturation for EOR and EGR (Shaw and Bachu, 2002).

Passive seismic monitoring

As CO₂ is injected into either a hydrocarbon reservoir or saline aquifer it will cause pore pressure changes within the reservoir. Induced microseismic events are recorded and using measurements of source location and

magnitude, source characteristics, and S-wave splitting, geo- mechanical models of deformation can be constrained (Verdon et al., 2011). The monitoring aims to track stress changes that might compromise the integrity of the seal as well as providing indirect evidence of the migration of the CO₂ plume and the pressure field. The equipment does not vary between storage in a saline aquifer or hydrocarbon reservoir.

Passive seismic monitoring has been used in both onshore saline reservoir storage projects (e.g. In Salah) and in several CO₂-EOR projects (e.g. Weyburn, Pembina). Due to expensive equipment, passive seismic monitoring is yet to be used to monitor an offshore project (either saline reservoir or EOR). The offshore equivalent to geophones are ocean bottom seismometers (OBSs) or ocean bottom cables (OBCs), which sit on the seafloor. OBSs use batteries can be deployed for up to two weeks. A permanent installation requires an OBC. This technology has been used in to image in detail subsurface sedimentary structures and although used in some field (e.g. Clair, Valhall) has not been widely used as a monitoring device for offshore oil, gas or CCS projects, due to expense. As well as passively monitoring seismic activity, the deployment of OBSs or an OBC can also be used for time-lapse seismic imaging.

Current large scale CO_2 storage projects are limited to saline aquifers which are large, unconfined sandstones where measured pressure perturbation has been minimal (e.g. Sleipner). Since depleted oil and gas reservoirs are typically smaller, and therefore more likely to be confined reservoirs, passive seismic monitoring may become a more useful monitoring technique where presuure perturbation creates microseismic events which enable the tracing of the CO_2 plume.

At the Weyburn CO_2 -EOR project, 8 geophones were deployed in a disused vertical production well. Less than 100 events have been recorded since 2003, documenting a relatively low amount of microseismicity. The events are not clustered around the injection well, suggesting CO_2 injection is not causing fractures to form (Verdon et al., 2011). At the Aneth Oil Field,

Utah, CO_2 is injected for EOR and 4D passive microseismic monitoring takes place. No consistent correlations between seismicity and injection/production rates were found in the study area. Source locations suggest stress changes driven by reservoir compaction over the field's 50 years of production history may account for seismicity (Rutledge, 2009).

Controlled source electromagnetic monitoring

Controlled source electromagnetic monitoring (CSEM) has been widely used as a geophysical technique to detect hydrocarbons, and it has more recently been applied to detecting CO₂ migration in storage sites. EM techniques were used in the Lost Hills EOR project in the San Joaquin Valley, California to track CO₂ injected into an oil reservoir (Kirkendall and Roberts, 2002). Both hydrocarbons and CO₂ have a higher electrical resistivity than their surroundings. Oil does have a higher resistivity than CO₂, but the difference is small and there is sparse field data to assess the sensitivity and usefulness of EM monitoring on CO₂ injection into an oil or gas reservoir. Kirkendall and Roberts (2002) showed that the difference between electrical signatures of oil and CO₂ increases over time, they documented a 0.4% change after 3 months of CO₂ injection (Figure 6). They also found that there was not a measurable difference between the resistivity of different phases of CO₂.

CSEM uses an electric dipole source and receivers that record the electric and magnetic fields. Due to the closer proximity to the source, onshore CSEM obtains higher quality data because electrodes are deployed down boreholes, and either surface and downhole measurements (if only one well) or cross-hole (multiple wells) electrical resistivity tomography (ERT) can be undertaken. Offshore CSEM uses an electric dipole source which is towed by a vessel. The source should be as close to the seafloor as possible, to avoid attenuation of the source before it penetrates the subsurface. Seafloor receivers are deployed and record the energy propagating back to the seafloor. Offshore CSEM is a much coarser measurement than ERT, but can detect the lateral extent of CO_2 in a storage project (JafarGandomi and Curtis, 2011). Although technical advances have made improvements so that the air waves that result from shallow water depths can be removed, they still reduce the amplitude of the signal. JafarGandomi and Curtis (2011) highlight the need for site by site characterisation to see if CSEM will be useful, as well as water depth being a problem, highly resistive layers in the over- or under-burden will strongly effect the signal. Since the resistivity detection between CO_2 and oil is small, then site characterisation will be even more important for CO_2 –EOR projects.



Figure 6: Two-dimensional images of CO₂ flooding in the plane between the two observation wells before injection (left) and after 3 months of injection (centre). $\Omega m = Ohm$ -metres (resistivity). The circles on the left side of each image represent the well containing the receiver antenna while those circles on the right side of the images contain the transmitting antenna. The difference image (right) is the pre-injection image subtracted from the during-injection image and shows the areas of change quite clearly. A positive percent difference suggests CO₂ is entering the area. Taken from (Kirkendall and Roberts, 2002).

The low sensitivity of using offshore CSEM suggests that at best it could measure the lateral extent of the injected CO_2 into an oil or gas reservoir. Since measuring electric and magnetic fields onshore has a higher

sensitivity, then EM is likely to be more useful for onshore projects where it is more likely to be able to detect CO_2 injection into hydrocarbon reservoirs. ERT successfully monitors CO_2 injection into a saline aquifer at Ketzin (Bergmann et al., 2012) and laboratory experiments on core from Nagaoka has accurately predicted CO_2 saturation.

Gravity

Gravity measurements can detect the lateral extent of CO_2 in a storage project by identifying areas of density change. The density difference between CO_2 and brine is larger than between CO_2 and oil (which can be zero or even reversed), therefore a smaller change in gravity will occur when CO_2 is injected into an oil reservoir than a saline aquifer, which will be less easily detectable. CO_2 injected into a natural gas reservoir should have the strongest gravity signal, since supercritical CO_2 is much denser than natural gas.

No publications document gravity measurements used to track CO_2 injected into an oil reservoir; however at the Cranfield EOR/Storage project (SECARB), borehole gravity was used to monitor CO_2 injection into an oil field. A measurable change was observed on the first well the CO_2 reached but not on any further wells (SPE Presentation, R. Dino, Rio 2012).

Gasperikova and Hoversten (2008) model gravity measurements for a CO_2 -EOR project, where injection is into a relatively shallow reservoir at a depth of 1150-1350m. The gravity changes calculated at the surface were below the level of repeatability found in current field studies (~5 μ Gal). However gravity changes calculated on gravimeters deployed down boreholes were found to be sensitive enough to detect the CO_2 injection.

As the depth of the storage reservoir increases, the amplitude of gravity measurements at the surface decreases, i.e. the minimum detectable density change increases with depth. JafarGandomi and Curtis (2011) calculate the detectable density change for increasing saturations of CO₂ in

a saline aquifer and increasing depth to plume and conclude that although the gravity signal is sensitive to the bulk volume of CO₂, it does not provide detailed resolution either laterally or vertically.

Surface Deformation

Measuring surface deformation provides a blunt tool to monitor CO_2 migration and pressure changes. Various instruments can measure surface deformation including: InSAR, tilt meters, GPS, and hyperspectral imaging of land surface. Surface deformation measurements track subsurface pressure changes that are inferred assuming a geomechanical model of the reservoir and overburden. Independent constraints on pressure can help to constrain geomechanical models. Since its use for quantifying stored CO_2 and monitored any leaked CO_2 is quite limited, it has not been widely used at CO_2 injection sites. There are no documented EOR projects that use surface deformation as a monitoring technique. The increase in the number of fluid phases and the relative compressibility of these fluids for an EOR project would make determining a unique geomechanical model more difficult.

The equipment would not differ from an EOR or saline aquifer storage project. However, when injecting into a saline aquifer, one would expect the surface to uplift, because no fluids are being produced. During an EOR project, prior to CO_2 injection, oil production may have caused some subsidence and hence a pre-injection baseline is imperative. When CO_2 is injected, the net input of fluid will determine whether uplift occurs and if it does, when and to what extent.

The In Salah project in Algeria injects CO_2 into a 20 m thick sandstone ~2 km beneath the surface. The depth of the CO_2 makes monitoring the fluid movement difficult. One technique that has been useful is satellite synthetic aperture radar interferometry (InSAR) which has imaged surface uplift rates of ~5 mm yr⁻¹ surrounding the 3 injection wells. InSAR measures the vertical and horizontal surface displacement using interferometry.

Measuring surface deformation is more difficult offshore. Options include putting tiltmeters on the seabed or down wells. There has been an increase in the use of tiltmeters technology as the hydraulic fracturing industry has expanded because it can directly measure hydraulic fractures (Sweatman et al., 2012).

5. Recommendations and Conclusions

In this report it is shown that MMV technologies are largely similar for CO₂ storage in depleted oil and gas and saline reservoirs and for CO₂-EOR projects and that the largest differences in MMV technology usage is controlled by site specific geology and geography rather than being process related. However, specific differences do exist based on the process as highlighted in section 4 of this report. Generalizations that be drawn from these differences include:

Baseline Measurements

Baseline measurements are typically less complex for saline reservoirs due to the unaltered state of the reservoir at the onset of a storage project. Virtually all technologies require a thorough baseline assessment and as such operations in depleted oil and gas reservoirs and EOR projects will typically require greater assessment of baseline conditions due to their altered state which may not have reached equilibrium by the time of the project start.

Characterization

Depleted oil and gas reservoirs and CO₂-EOR projects will invariably be better characterized before injection begins than a saline reservoir. This increased characterization in conjunction with the knowledge that these reservoirs have retained fluids on geological time scales reduces the risk of unplanned CO₂ migration. This in turn could lead to less monitoring being required over aerially extensive areas as would likely be required in an uncharacterized saline reservoir. Thorough characterization of a saline reservoir, though costly, would also reduce the risk of unplanned CO₂ migration and hence reduce monitoring requirements.

• Number of wells

Depleted oil and gas reservoirs and CO₂-EOR projects will have more wells penetrating the reservoir than a saline reservoir. On the positive side this opens up more possibilities to deploy direct (wellbased) monitoring technologies. A potential negative side is that more potential CO₂ migration routes are introduced. However these routes are easily identifiable and monitoring campaigns devised to manage this risk.

Pressure

CO₂-EOR projects will effectively manage pressure by fluid production, reducing the risk of exceeding caprock integrities, reactivating faults and inducing seismic events. This reduced risk will impact and likely reduce the intensity of monitoring required to assure CO₂ storage integrity. Depleted oil and gas reservoir storage may in some cases (where water flooding has not occurred) have a reduced pressure at the beginning of injection and hence also have a lower risk of pressure induced effects outlined above and thus benefit from a less intensive monitoring campaign. Saline aquifers conversely may have to actively manage pressures to reduce this risk or otherwise have more monitoring in place to detect any such effects.

In conclusion, no specific different technologies or monitoring strategies are recommended for EOR over CO₂ storage in either saline or depleted oil and gas reservoirs. Rather, it is recommended to assess the local site-specific conditions of any CO₂ injection project including the geology geography and the level of knowledge and understanding of the reservoir and then to build a risk based approach to selecting the appropriate monitoring technologies and deployment strategies.

Further Research

Whilst current monitoring technologies do not significantly vary between storage in a saline aquifer and an oil reservoir, several knowledge gaps exist for storage in a hydrocarbon reservoir that should be tackled in order to correctly interpret monitoring data. First, since tracers are likely to be used in most CO₂-EOR projects, then a greater understanding of how different tracers partition between CO₂-brine-oil (or gas) is necessary. For

example it is not common practice to measure CO_2 and chemical tracer dissolution into oil. Secondly, gravity and the electromagnetic response to CO_2 injection into an offshore hydrocarbon reservoir has not yet been modelled in published work, and it would be useful to quantify the expected responses.

JafarGandomi and Curtis (2012) assess the geophysical detectability of CO_2 saturation in saline aquifers by inverting six geophysical parameters (Vp, Vs, Quality Factors, density, and electrical resistivity). Applying the inversion to CO_2 injection into depleted oil and gas reservoirs would highlight the parameters that contribute the most overall information.

References

Arts, R., Eiken, O., Chadwick, A., Zweigel, P., van der Meer, L. and Zinsaner, B. (2004), Monitoring of CO₂ injected at Sleipner using time-lapse seismic data, Energy, 29, 1383- 1392.

Bergmann, P., Schmidt-Hattenberger, C., Kiessling, D., Rucker, C., Labitzke, T., Henninges, J., Baumann, G. and Schutt, H. (2012), Case History, Surface-downhole electrical resistivity tomography applied to monitoring of CO_2 storage at Ketzin, Germany Geophysics, 77, 253- 268.

Boait, F. C., White, N. J., Bickle, M. J., Chadwick, R. A., Neufeld, J. A. and Huppert H. E. (2012), Spatial and temporal evolution of injected CO_2 at the Sleipner Field, North Sea. Journal of Geophysical Research, doi:10.1029/2011JB008603.

Bohari, M., Ali, M., Carigali, H., de Leeuw, H. and Nilsson, C. (2003), Multiphase Flow Measurment Using Tracer technology at Dulang Oil Field, Malaysia SPE, 80501.

Bondor, P., Hite, J. and Avasthi (2005), Planning EOR Projects in Offshore Oil Fields, SPE, 94637.

Brown, L. (2002), Integration of Rock Physics and Reservoir Simulation for the Interpretation of Time-lapse Seismic Data at Weyburn field, Saskatchewan MSci diss, Colorado School of Mines.

Brigham, W. and Abbaszadeh-Dehghani, M. (1987), Tracer Testing for Reservoir Description, Journ. Petroleum Tech., SPE 14102, 519-527.

Cantucci, B., Montegrossi, G., Vaselli, O., Tassi, F., Quattrocchi, F. and Perkins E. (2009), Geochemical modeling of CO₂ storage in deep reservoirs: The Weyburn Project (Canada) case study, Chemical Geology, 265, 181-197. Ellingsrud, S., Eidesmo, T. and Strack, K. (2008), CSEM: a fast growing technology, SEG Las Vegas Annual Meeting.

Emberley, S., Hutcheon, I. and Shevalier, M. and Durocher, K. and Mayer, B. and Gunter, W.D. and Perkins, E.H. (2004), Monitoring of fluid-rock interaction and CO_2 storage through produced fluid sampling at the Weyburn CO_2 -injection enhanced oil recovery site, Saskatchewan, Canada, Applied Geochemistry, 20, 6, 1131-1157.

Gasperikova, E. and Hoversten, G. M. (2008), Gravity monitoring of CO₂ movement during sequestration: Model studies, Geophysics, 73, 105-112.

Girarda, J.-F., Coppoa, N., Rohmera, J., Bourgeoisa, B., Naudeta, J. and Schmidt- Hattenbergerb, C. (2011), Time-lapse CSEM monitoring of the Ketzin (Germany) CO_2 injection using 2xMAM configuration, Energy Procedia, 4, 3322-3329.

Giesev, R., Henninges, J., Luth, S., Morozova, D., Schmidt- Hattenbergerb, C., Wurdemass, H., Zimmer, M., Cosma, C. and Juhlin, C. (2008), Monitoring at the CO₂SINK Site: A concept Integrating Geophysics, Geochemistry and Microbiology, Energy Procedia,

Golding, M., Neufeld, J., Hesse, M. and Huppert, H. (2011), Two-phase gravity currents in porous media, J. Fluid Mech., 678, 248-270.

Grava, W.M., 2014. Aspects in CO₂ management in Brazilian Pre-Salt O/G Production. Center of Excellence in Research and Innovation in Petroleum, Mineral Resources and Carbon Storage website <u>http://www.pucrs.br/cepac/download/ccsavancado/3.CO2 Management Br</u> <u>azil Grava.pdf</u> Accessed. March 6th 2015.

JafarGandomi, A. and Curtis, A. (2012), Assessing the monitorability of CO_2 saturation in subsurface saline aquifers, Int. Journ. of Grnhse Gas Ctrl, 7, 244-260.

JafarGandomi, A. and Curtis, A. (2011), Detectability of petrophysical properties of subsurface CO₂-saturated aquifer reservoirs using surface geophysical methods, The Leading Edge, , 1112-1121.

Harris, J., Yin, F. and Quan, Y. (1996), Enhanced Oil Recovery Monitoring Using P-wave Attenuation, Soc. Exp. Geophys., SEG Annual Meeting, 1882-1885.

Hovorka, S., Meckel, T., Trevino, R., Lu, J., Nicot, J., Choi, J., Freeman, D., Cook, P., Daley, T., Ajo-Frankline, J., Freifeild, B., Doughty, C., Carrigan, C., La Brecque, D., Kharaka, Y., Thordsen, J., Phelps, T., Yang, C., Romanak, K., Zhang, T., Holt, R., Lindler, J. and Butsch, R. (2011), Monitoring a large volume of CO₂ injection: Year two results from SECARB project at Denbury's Cranfield Mississippi, USA. Energy Procedia, 4, 3478-3485.

IPCC Report, (2005), Special Report on Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage, Cambridge University Press.

Johnson, G., Mayer, B., Nightingale, M., Shevalier, M. and Hutcheon, I. (2011), Using oxygen isotope ratios to quantitatively assess trapping mechanisms during CO_2 injection into geological reservoirs: The Pembina case study, Chemical Geology, 283, 185-193.

Kirkendall, B. and Roberts, J. (2002), Reservoir Charcterization: Electromagnetic Imaging of CO_2 for EOR Processes, Soc. Petroleum Engineers.

Lake, L., Schmidt, R. and Venuto, P. (1992), A Niche for Enhanced Oil Recovery in the 1990s, Oilfield Review, 4, 1.

McCallum, S., Riestenberg, D., Cole, D., Freifeld, B., Trautz, R., Hovorka, S. and Phelps, T. (2005), Monitoring Geologically Sequestered CO₂ during the Frio Brine Pilot Test using Perfluorocarbon Tracers, Conf Proc. 4th Ann Conf CCS DOE/NETL.

Nimz and Hudson (2005), The Use of Noble Gas Isotopes for Monitoring Leakage of geologically Stored CO₂, Carbon Dioxide Capture for Storage in Deep Geologic Formations, Volume 2, Ch 24, 1113-1128.

Perez, R., Shevalier, M., Hutcheon, I. and Mayer, B. (2006), A model for partitioning gases among brines and hydrocarbons in oil reservoirs: Examples from the IEA-GHG Weyburn CO₂ Monitoring and Storage Project, Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 89, 326-330.

Ren, S., Niu, B., Ren, B., Li, Y. and Kang, W. (2011), Monitoring on CO₂ EOR and Storage in a CCS Demonstration Project of Jilin Oilfield China, Soc. Petroleum Engineers, SPE 145440.

Rutledge, J. (2009), Interpreting Reservoir Microseismicity Detected During CO₂ Injection at the Aneth Oil Field. AGU Expanded Abstracts, U41B-0021.

Saito, H., Nobuoka, D., Azuma, H., Xue, Z., Tanase, D., (2006), Time-lapse crosswell seismic tomography for monitoring injected CO₂ in an onshore aquifer, Geophysics, 37, 30-36.

Shaw, J. and Bachu, S. (2002), Screening, Evaluation, and Ranking of Oil Reservoirs Suitable for CO₂-Flood EOR and Carbon Dioxide Sequestration, Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology, 21, 9, 51-61.

Sweatman, R., Davis, E., Samson, E, McCorpin, G. and Marisc, S. (2012), New Technology For Offshore CO₂ Reservoir Monitoring and Flow Control, Carbon Management Technology Conference, CMC 150980.

Taber, J., Martin, F. and Seright, R. (1997), EOR Screening Criteria Revisited - Part 1: Introduction to Screening Criteria and Enhanced Recovery Field Projects, SPE Reservoir Engineering, 35385.

Urosevic, M., Campbell, Aa., Dahlhaus, L., Gendrin, A., Leaney, W., Tcherkashnev, S. and Verliac, M. (2009), Seismic Monitoring and Verification for the CO₂CRC Otway Basin Project, Part 2:acquisition and analysis of borehole seismic data, Energy Procedia, 1, 3135-3140.

Verdon, J.P., Kendall, J.-M., White, D.J. and Angus D.A. (2011), Linking microseismic event observations with geomechanical models to minimise the risks of storing CO_2 in geological formations, Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 305, 143-152.

Walls, J. and Dvorkin, J. (2012), Effects of pore fluid properties at high pressure and temperature on seismic response, Rock Solid Images. Available at: <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/File%20Library/research/oil-gas/deepwater%20technology/2005 SEG Walls.pdf</u> (Retrieved August 2014)

Williams, B. and Nyhavn, F. (2012), Wireless reservoir Surveillance Using Intelligent Tracers, Offshore Tech. Conf., OTC 23282.

Wilt, M., Schenkel, C., Torres-Verdin, C., Lee, K. and Tseng, H. (1994), Crosshole EM for Oil Field Characterization And EOR Monitoring: Field Examples, Soc. Exp. Geophys., SEG Annual Meeting, 1676-1679.

White, D. and Johnson, J. (2009), Integrated geophysical and geochemical research programs of the IEA GHG Weyburn-Midale CO₂ monitoring and storage project, Energy Procedia, 1, 2349-2356.

Wright, P. and Womack, W. (2006), Fiber-Optic Downhole Sensing: A Discussion on Applications and Enabling Wellhead Connection Technology, Offshore Technology Conference, OTC 18121